IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

---

Supreme Court No. 20-0343  
Pottawattamie County No. LACV118305

---

THOMAS LUKKEN,  
  
PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT,

v.

KORBY L. FLEISCHER, individually and d/b/a MT. CRESENT SKI AREA; SAMANTHA FLEISCHER, individually and d/b/a/ MT. CRESCENT SKI AREA; DOUBLE DIAMOND, INC., an Iowa corporation d/b/a MT. CRESENT SKI AREA; CHALLENGE QUEST, LLC, an Oklahoma Corporation; KIRK GREGORY ENGINEERING, P.C., a Texas Corporation; and KG STRUCTURAL SOLUTIONS, LLC, a Texas Corporation

DEFENDANTS-APPELLEES.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
IN AND FOR POTTAWATTAMIE COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE JAMES S. HECKERMAN

---

**APPELLANT’S FINAL BRIEF**

---

---

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

**A. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE  
INSTALLATION OF A NEW ZIPLINE BRAKING SYSTEM  
WAS A SUPERSEDING CAUSE OF PLAINTIFF'S INJURIES  
WHICH WOULD RELIEVE CHALLENGE QUEST FROM  
LIABILITY**

**Iowa Cases**

*Bellman v. City of Cedar Falls*, 617 N.W.2d 11 (Iowa 2000)

*Buechel v. Five Star Quality Care, Inc.*, 745 N.W.2d 732 (Iowa 2008)

*Haumersen v. Ford Motor Co.*, 257 N.W.2d 7 (Iowa 1977)

*Henkel v. R & S Bottling Co.*, 323 N.W.2d 185 (Iowa 1982)

*Hollingsworth v. Schminkey*, 553 N.W.2d 591 (Iowa 1996)

*Rieger v. Jacque*, 584 N.W.2d 247 (Iowa 1998)

*Roll v. Newhall*, 888 N.W.2d 422 (Iowa 2016)

*State v. Shears*, 920 N.W.2d 527 (Iowa 2018)

*Tenney v. Atlantic Associates*, 594 N.W.2d 11 (Iowa 1999)

**Federal Cases**

*Cole v. Caterpillar Machinery Corp.*, 562 F. Supp. 179 (M.D. La. 1983)

*Deromedi v. Litton Industrial Products, Inc.*,  
636 F. Supp. 392 (W.D. Mich. 1986)

*Eyerly Aircraft Co. v. Killian*, 414 F.2d 591 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1969)

*Union County v. Piper Jaffray & Co.*, 741 F. Supp. 2d 1064 (S.D. Iowa 2010)

*United States Fidelity & Guaranty Co. v. Brian*, 337 F.2d 881 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1964)

### **Other Sources**

Restatement (Third) of Torts, § 34

Restatement (Third ) of Torts, § 34, cmt. a

Restatement (Third) of Torts, § 34, cmt. e

## **B. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT CHALLENGE QUEST OWED NO DUTY TO PLAINTIFF**

### **Iowa Cases**

*Brosnan v. Woodman*, 939 N.W.2d 123 (Iowa Ct. App. 2019) (unreported)

*Buechel v. Five Star Quality Care, Inc.*, 745 N.W.2d 732 (Iowa 2008)

*Roll v. Newhall*, 888 N.W.2d 422 (Iowa 2016)

*Thompson v. Kaczinski*, 774 N.W.2d 829 (Iowa 2009)

### **Other Sources**

Restatement (Third) of Torts, Liability for Physical and Emotional Harm, § 6

Restatement (Third) of Torts, Liability for Physical and Emotional Harm, § 7

Restatement (Third) of Torts, Liability for Physical and Emotional Harm,  
§ 27

**C. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING NO ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACTS AS TO PLAINTIFF'S NEGLIGENCE CLAIM AGAINST CHALLENGE QUEST**

**Iowa Cases**

*Buechel v. Five Star Quality Care, Inc.*, 745 N.W.2d 732 (Iowa 2008)

*Roll v. Newhall*, 888 N.W.2d 422 (Iowa 2016)

**Court Rules**

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.707(5)

**D. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO ADDRESS THE GROSS NEGLIGENCE ISSUE PRESENTED IN MT. CRESCENT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT**

**Iowa Cases**

*Alcala v. Marriott International, Inc.*, 880 N.W.2d 699 (Iowa 2016)

*Buechel v. Five Star Quality Care, Inc.*, 745 N.W.2d 732 (Iowa 2008)

*Grabill v. Adams County Fair & Racing Association*, 666 N.W.2d 592 (Iowa 2003)

*Huber v. Hovey*, 501 N.W.2d 53 (Iowa 1993)

*Kiesau v. Bantz*, 686 N.W.2d 164 (Iowa 2004)

*Korsmo v. Waverly Ski Club*, 435 N.W.2d 746 (Iowa Ct. App. 1988)

*Nelson v. Winnebago Industries*, 619 N.W.2d 385 (Iowa 2000)

*Roll v. Newhall*, 888 N.W.2d 422 (Iowa 2016)

*Ryan v. Arneson*, 422 N.W.2d 491 (Iowa 1988)

*Thompson v. Bohlken*, 312 N.W.2d 501 (Iowa 1981)

### **Federal Cases**

*Wolfgang v. Mid-American Motorsports, Inc.*, 898 F. Supp. 783 (D. Kan. 1995))

### **Other State Cases**

*Anderson v. McOskar Enterprises, Inc.*, 712 N.W.2d 796 (Minn. Ct. App. 2006)

*Brady v. Glosson*, 74 S.E.2d 253 (Ga. 1953)

*Jones v. Dressel*, 623 P.2d 370 (Colo. 1981)

*Moore v. Waller*, 930 A.2d 176 (D.C. 2007)

*New Light Co. v. Wells Fargo Alarm Services*, 525 N.W.2d 25 (Neb. 1994)

*Seigneur v. National Fitness Institute, Inc.*, 752 A.2d 631 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 2000)

*Wolf v. Ford*, 644 A.2d 522 (Md. 1994)

### **Statutes**

Iowa Code § 85.20

Iowa Code § 668A.1

## **E. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE WAIVER IS NOT CONTRARY TO STATUTORY PURPOSE AND PUBLIC POLICY**

### **Iowa Cases**

*Buechel v. Five Star Quality Care, Inc.*, 745 N.W.2d 732 (Iowa 2008)

*H & Z Vending v. Iowa Department of Inspections & Appeals*, 511 N.W.2d 397 (Iowa 1994)

*In re Estate of Barnes*, 256 Iowa 1043, 128 N.W.2d 188 (1964)

*Lathrop v. Century, Inc.*, 2002 Iowa App. LEXIS 1136

*Roll v. Newhall*, 888 N.W.2d 422, 425 (Iowa 2016)

*Smith v. All Stor Fort Knox, LLC*, 924 N.W.2d 534 (Iowa Ct. App. 2018) (unreported)

*Wunschel Law Firm, P.C. v. Clabaugh*, 291 N.W.2d 331 (Iowa 1980)

### **Other State Cases**

*New Light Co. v. Wells Fargo Alarm Services*, 525 N.W.2d 25 (Neb. 1994)

### **Statutes**

Iowa Code Chapter 88A

Iowa Code § 88A.1

Iowa Code § 88A.3

Iowa Code § 88A.9

Iowa Code § 88A10

Iowa Code § 88A.14

Iowa Code § 88A.15

### **Other Sources**

Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 195



**F. THE DISTRICT COURT FAILED TO VIEW THE EVIDENCE  
IN A LIGHT MOST FAVORABLE TO PLAINTIFF**

**Iowa Cases**

*Buechel v. Five Star Quality Care, Inc.*, 745 N.W.2d 732 (Iowa 2008)

*Butler v. Hoover Nature Trail, Inc.*, 530 N.W.2d 85 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994)

*Cox v. Jones*, 470 N.W.2d 23 (Iowa 1991)

*Eggiman v. Self-Insured Services Co.*, 718 N.W.2d 754 (Iowa 2006)

*Employers Mutual Casualty Co. v. Van Haaften*, 815 N.W.2d 17 (Iowa  
2012)

*Estate of Harris v. Papa John's Pizza*, 679 N.W.2d 673 (Iowa 2004)

*Evans v. McComas-Lacina Construction Co.*, 641 N.W.2d 841 (Iowa 2002)

*Feld v. Borkowski*, 790 N.W.2d 72 (Iowa 2010)

*Hollingsworth v. Schminkey*, 553 N.W.2d 591 (Iowa 1996)

*Lenstra v. Menard, Inc.*, 511 N.W.2d 410 (Iowa Ct. App. 1993)

*Oswald v. LeGrand*, 453 N.W.2d 634 (Iowa 1990)

*Parish v. Jumpking, Inc.*, 719 N.W.2d 540 (Iowa 2006)

*Phillips v. Covenant Clinic*, 625 N.W.2d 714 (Iowa 2001)

*Roll v. Newhall*, 888 N.W.2d 422 (Iowa 2016)

*Scheckel v. Jackson County*, 467 N.W.2d 286 (Iowa Ct. App. 1991)

*Taft v. Iowa District Court ex rel. Linn County*, 828 N.W.2d 309 (Iowa  
2013).

## **Court Rules**

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.981(3)

### **IV. ROUTING STATEMENT**

The Iowa Supreme Court should retain jurisdiction of this matter as it presents a substantial issue of first impression with respect to: (1) whether the Iowa Safety Inspection of Amusement Rides Act's requirement that amusement ride operators carry liability insurance for bodily injury in the amount of \$1,000,000 make a waiver of such operators' liability for negligence invalid as against public policy, and (2) whether willful or wanton disregard for the safety of others may be released by a form waiver. These questions present fundamental and urgent issues of broad public importance and their answers will have substantial implications, as enunciating and changing legal principles are at issue. *See*, Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c), (d) and (f).

### **V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### **A. NATURE OF THE CASE AND COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS**

On September 21, 2018, Plaintiff Thomas Lukken ("Plaintiff") filed a Petition at Law in the district court for Pottawattamie County alleging Defendants owed a duty to Plaintiff which they breached, proximately causing

Plaintiff's injuries and damages. (*Petition, App. 10*). Plaintiff also pled strict liability and requested punitive damages. *Id.* On June 3, 2019, Plaintiff filed an Amended Petition at Law. (*Amended Petition, App. 22*).

On July 30, 2019, Defendant Challenge Quest, LLC ("Challenge Quest") filed a motion for summary judgment on the entirety of Plaintiff's claim against it. (*Challenge Quest MSJ, App. 34*). Plaintiff resisted Challenge Quest's motion, arguing that it owed a legal duty to Plaintiff, that its negligence was a legal cause of Plaintiff's injuries and that its summary judgment motion was premature. (*Plaintiff's Resistance to Challenge Quest MSJ, App. 71-96*).

Plaintiff alleged that at the very least genuine issues of material fact existed as to whether Challenge Quest owed a duty to Plaintiff and whether its failure to meet industry standards was a foreseeable and proximate cause of Plaintiff's injuries.

On December 16, 2019, Defendants Korby Fleischer, Samantha Fleischer and Double Diamond, Inc., d/b/a Mt. Crescent Ski Area, (collectively "Mt. Crescent") filed a motion for summary judgment on the entirety of Plaintiff's claim against them, claiming that Plaintiff's claim was barred because he signed a waiver purporting to release Mt. Crescent from any liability associated with Plaintiff's ride on its zipline. (*Mt. Crescent*

*Defendants' MSJ, App. 423; Release Agreement, App. 465*). Plaintiff resisted Mt. Crescent's motion, arguing that Mt. Crescent cannot be released from willful and wanton disregard for the rights and safety of Plaintiff and that such a waiver is contrary to the applicable provisions of Iowa Code Chapter 88A and public policy, rendering it void and unenforceable. (*Plaintiff's Resistance to Mt. Crescent Defendants' MSJ, App. 440-464*).

Plaintiff alleged that at the very least genuine issues of material fact existed as to whether Mt. Crescent's conduct constituted gross negligence and/or willful and wanton disregard for safety which would preclude it from waiving its liability in this case, as well as whether the waiver Plaintiff signed is invalid and unenforceable as contrary to the Iowa Amusement Park and Ride Safety Inspection and Regulation Act and public policy.

## **B. DISPOSITION OF THE CASE IN THE DISTRICT COURT**

On December 10, 2019, the Iowa District Court for Pottawattamie County, the Honorable James S. Heckerman presiding, granted Challenge Quest's Motion for Summary Judgment. (*Order on Challenge Quest's MSJ, App. 414*). On January 9, 2020, Plaintiff filed a Notice of Appeal. (*Notice of Appeal, App. 436*).

On February 14, 2020, the District Court granted Mt. Crescent's Motion for Summary Judgment. (*Order on Mt. Crescent Defendants' MSJ,*

*App. 496*). On February 21, 2020, Plaintiff filed a Notice of Appeal. (*Notice of Appeal, App. 505*).

## **VI.** **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

This is a case involving multiple failures by Defendants in the design, construction and operation of a zipline challenge course. As a result of the alleged failures, Plaintiff, who was a paid guest at Mt. Crescent Ski Area, which is owned and operated by Double Diamond, Inc. (“Double Diamond”), descended on a zipline, traveling in excess of 40 miles per hour, and due to a confluence of systemic human, design and mechanical errors, he collided with a wooden pole at the base of the zipline and suffered a C7 fracture of his neck, resulting in surgical fusion. (*Amended Petition, App. 22-33*).

On or about April 15, 2014, Challenge Quest entered into an Agreement for Services (“Agreement”) with Mt. Crescent. (*Agreement of Services, App. 486-493*). Pursuant to the Agreement, Challenge Quest promised to construct “two side by side zip lines with Zip Stop braking system with 4 pole tower at top and bottom per drawings supplied by engineer” and provide “4-day, site-specific high technical training for full time staff.” The zipline construction was completed by Challenge Quest in August 2014. (*Fleischer Affidavit, ¶ 6*,

*App. 483-485*).<sup>1</sup> Challenge Quest also covenanted that its services would be rendered in accordance with the current professional standards adopted by the Association for Challenge Court Technology (“ACCT”). (*Agreement for Services, App. 486*). The ACCT Standards set out safety standards for zipline courses like the one located at Mt. Crescent Ski Area. (*Fleischer Depo., 31:21-33:19, App. 294-295; Goodwin Depo., 53:17-24; App. 278*).

Despite the fact that the terms of the Agreement specified that an ACCT-compliant Zip Stop braking system would be used, Challenge Quest failed to install this system on the Mt. Crescent zipline, (*Agreement of Services, App. 486-493; Fleischer Depo., 82:13-15; App. 307*). Instead, Challenge Quest elected to use a different braking system, one that utilized a capture arm with a brake block. (*Fleischer Affidavit, ¶ 5, App. 484; Sketch of Original Braking System, App 262; Goodwin Depo., 154:5-160:20, App. 287-288; Fleischer Depo., 83:16-86:11, App. 307-308*). This manual-resistance design required Mt. Crescent employees to grip the rope attached to the brake

---

<sup>1</sup> The structure includes a 24-foot-tall launch tower at the peak of Mt. Crescent where riders begin their descent. Tandem 5/8” cables are stretched to a 40-foot-tall tower at the base of Mt. Crescent, with riders landing at a platform 33 feet above the ground. (*Engineering Drawing of Zipline Towers 1/28/14, App. 212; Engineering Drawing of Zipline Elevation 5/22/13, App. 215*). The riders, suspended in harnesses, descend on trolleys attached to the 5/8” cable. (*Fleischer Depo., 40:9-44:1; 83:16-86:18, App. 296-297; 307-308*).

block in order to arrest the zipline riders' descents. *Id.* When a rider's trolley engaged the brake block, the Mt. Crescent employee would apply resistance to the vertical braking rope as the rope pulled through the employee's grip. *Id.* Heavier riders required more grip friction. *Id.* Riders who were pushed by "tail winds" would similarly require more grip friction. *Id.* Riders had no way to control the speed of their descent and were entirely dependent upon the zipline's braking system and its correct usage to slow down and stop. (*Fleischer Depo.*, 40:9-44:1; 83:16-86:18, *App.* 296-297; 307-308).

The braking system design used by Challenge Quest in place of the promised Zip Stop braking system was substandard and unsafe. It lacked an ACCT-mandated back-up brake, which would have served as a secondary or emergency brake in the event that the primary brake failed. Challenge Quest never advised Mt. Crescent of this fact and in fact, Challenge Quest witness, Coty Goodwin believed that the secondary brake was not even required. This was not accurate, contrary to industry standards and was criticized by Plaintiff's expert, Erik Marter in his report. (*Marter Report*, *App.* 334-349).

Soon after its construction, Mt. Crescent realized the original braking system installed by Challenge Quest was flawed and would need to be replaced. (*Fleischer Depo.*, 119:1-120:24, *App.* 314). Multiple incidents occurred where riders came down the zipline so fast that employees could not

apply enough “grip friction” to safely slow the riders. As a result, the riders arrived at the zipline landing area at a speed in excess of 6 miles per hour – the threshold set by ACCT Standards – and/or collided with the employees in the landing area. There were several occasions upon which an employee was “bumped and fell off the platform”. There was also an incident in which a rider came down the zipline too fast and the employee at the landing area could not arrest the rider, which caused the rider to collide with the platform in the landing area, injuring her ankle. (*Fleischer Depo.*, 83:16-89:11; *App.* 307-309).

Mt. Crescent contacted Challenge Quest regarding the safety defects they were experiencing with the braking system. (*Fleischer Depo.*, 127:18-132:8; *App.* 316-317). In a letter dated August 26, 2014, Challenge Quest merely rationalized the chosen system. (*Settlement Letter*, *App.* 206-207) (“...we chose the system we did, with the approval of the client, to provide the maximum simplicity, reliability, lost (sic) cost maintenance and flexibility.”) Challenge Quest’s response failed to address Mt. Crescent’s safety concerns, which left Mt. Crescent with no choice but to replace the braking system through a third party.

Additionally, at no point prior to the incident at issue did Challenge Quest provide Mt. Crescent with any safety rules, policies, or procedures



regarding the structure of the zipline, the operation of the zipline, the operational limits of the zipline, training requirements for zipline operators, or braking (specifically emergency brake) requirements. (*Fleischer Depo.*, 30:6-14; 44:25-45:25; 46:25-47:8; 54:10-55:11; 58:13-19; 74:18-79:2; 110:23-111:15; 133:7-136:25; 140:10-141:2; 144:9-16; 145:5-146:19; 202:17-23, *App.* 294, 297-298, 300, 301, 305-306, 312, 317-318, 319-320; 321, 332; *Zip Line Manual 2012*, *App.* 238-249).

Challenge Quest provided no warnings of any type to Mt. Crescent detailing the risks of modification of Challenge Quest's design. Nor did it provide Mt. Crescent any procedures required for modification of Challenge Quest's design. (*Fleischer Depo.*, 38:12-39:11; 72:3-73:19; 145:9-16, *App.* 296, 304-305, 321). Mt. Crescent did not have the expertise to design a safety program for the operation of this zipline and relied upon Challenge Quest, the designer and builder of this zipline attraction, to detail what Mt. Crescent should know to operate the zipline safely. (*Fleischer Depo.*, 28:6-29:16; 74:18-79:2, *App.* 294-294, 305-306 ).

After the new braking system was put into place, Plaintiff was injured when a Mt. Crescent employee failed to deploy the brakes correctly, resulting in Plaintiff arriving far too fast to stop at the base, and colliding at-speed with the base-tower structure. (*Fleischer Depo.*, 66:16-68:2; 188:11-190:5;

203:7-19, App. 303, 328-329). Critical to this Court's understanding is the fact that the braking system as installed *did not fail*. The failure was a system failure involving a combination of human error, an unsafe design and construction, inadequate training, failure of documentation, and a non-existent operations system which put riders at risk at every stage of the zipline experience. (*Fleischer Depo.*, 83:16-84:19, App. 307; *Goodwin Depo.*, 154:4-159:20, App. 287-288). These failures constitute not only gross negligence on the part of Defendants, but a willful and wanton disregard for the safety of Plaintiff, Mt. Crescent Ski Area patrons, customers, and the general public. (*Amended Petition*, App. 22).

There are genuine issues of material fact as to Defendants' liability in this case with respect to the chain of events leading up to Plaintiff's injury. Challenge Quest designed and constructed a defective zipline which had no emergency brake as required by industry standards and failed to provide Mt. Crescent with the information, knowledge, training, and safety procedures required to operate the zipline safely and in accordance with industry standards. A Mt. Crescent employee failed to deploy the brake and Mt. Crescent itself failed not only to appropriately train and oversee its zipline employees, but also failed to document safety issues and put into place the

policies, procedures, safety manuals, checklists which would have prevented Plaintiff's injuries.

## **VII.** **ARGUMENT**

### **A. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE INSTALLATION OF A NEW ZIPLINE BRAKING SYSTEM WAS A SUPERSEDING CAUSE OF PLAINTIFF'S INJURIES WHICH WOULD RELIEVE CHALLENGE QUEST FROM LIABILITY**

#### **1. Preservation of Error**

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