IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

Supreme Court No. 20-0343 Pottawattamie County No. LACV118305

THOMAS LUKKEN,

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT,

v.

KORBY L. FLEISCHER, individually and d/b/a MT. CRESCENT SKI AREA; SAMANTHA FLEISCHER, individually and d/b/a MT. CRESCENT SKI AREA; CHALLENGE QUEST, LLC, an Oklahoma Corporation; KIRK GREGORY ENGINEERING, P.C., a Texas Corporation; and KG STRUCTURAL SOLUTIONS, LLC, a Texas Corporation,

DEFENDANTS-APPELLEES.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR POTTAWATTAMIE COUNTY THE HONORABLE JAMES S. HECKERMAN

APPELLEE'S FINAL BRIEF AND CONDITIONAL REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Prepared and Submitted by:

Robert M. Slovek
Joshua S. Weiner (pro hac vice)

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

VI. ARGUMENT

A. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT CHALLENGE QUEST WAS NOT A LEGAL CAUSE OF THE PLAINTIFF'S INJURIES

1. Preservation of Error

Challenge Quest agrees with Plaintiff's statements on error preservation; however, to the extent Plaintiff criticizes any failure on the part of the district court to address any arguments, Plaintiff failed to preserve this issue for appeal by filing motion to enlarge or amend the judgment pursuant to Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.904(2). *See Bill Grunder's Sons Constr., Inc. v. Ganzer*, 686 N.W.2d 193, 197 (Iowa 2004) (stating a nonmovant must file a motion under Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.904 after the grant of summary judgment to preserve its unaddressed arguments for appeal).

2. Scope of Review

Challenge Quest agrees with Plaintiff's statements on scope of review and standard of review.

3. Argument

Plaintiff argues "[w]hile it is undisputed that the braking system was replaced, that is not the proximate cause of Plaintiff's injury[,]" and that Mt. Crescent was forced to replace Challenge Quest's original braking system because of its substandard and dangerous construction and design." (Plaintiff's Final Br. at 28). Plaintiff's theory does not withstand scrutiny.

It is important to understand at the outset the ultimate cause of the Incident in this case. Plaintiff's alleged injuries were caused by the failure of a Mt. Crescent employee "to deploy the arresting brake (Zip Stop) correctly, resulting in . . . [Plaintiff] colliding at-speed with the base-tower structure." App. 79. Specifically, Mt. Crescent's owner, Korby Fleischer, testified a Mt. Crescent employee, "forgot to put . . . the brake back out . . . until he realized he made a mistake . . . and [Plaintiff] had an impact with the structure" App. 303 (Fleischer Dep. 66:20-67:8). Mr. Fleischer attributed this entirely to "human error" caused by the employee "forget[ting] to do something" he was trained to do—resetting the brake block on the Zipline before a new rider descended:

- Q. Do you feel like that was an aspect of the operation of the braking system that Mt. Crescent employees understood they needed to perform?
- A. Oh, yes. *They knew to put that out*. Like I said before, it was a mistake by the person that was working that day. He just -- it

was the end of the day. It was the last two people going down the zip line and he was out there all day. *He just -- he missed -- he missed it.*

App. 303; 304; 318; 319 (Fleischer Dep. 67:9-68:2, 72:5-23, 133:12-21, 189:10-191:3). (emphasis added).

Plaintiff acknowledges "[r]egardless of the braking system at issue, it has been established that Plaintiff's injury occurred *due to human error*, not a mechanical issue with the braking system." (Plaintiff's Final Br. at 29) (emphasis added).

Plaintiff devotes much of his brief to an attempt to paint Challenge Quest as an incompetent contractor and asserts that because the Original Braking System did not have an "emergency brake" it was therefore foreseeable "Mt. Crescent [would be] forced to replace Challenge Quest's original braking system[.]" (Plaintiff's Final Br. at 28). The district court properly saw through these arguments in granting Challenge Quest's Motion for Summary Judgment.

Whether the Original Braking System employed by Challenge Quest had an "emergency brake" or whether an "emergency brake" was required by ACCT standards is simply not a material fact.¹ The undisputed facts show

14

¹ As Challenge Quest noted in its briefing before the district court, Section H.1.3 of the ACCT standards provides in relevant part: "An emergency brake shall be required if, upon failure of the primary brake, both

that Challenge Quest completed construction of the Zipline and training of Mt. Crescent employees in August 2014. App. 484. Challenge Quest installed the Original Braking System, which utilized a capture arm with a brake block, which was the braking system in place at the time Challenge Quest completed construction of the Zipline in August 2014. App. 484. Challenge Quest thereafter turned over the Zipline to Mt. Crescent and had no further involvement or responsibility for the Zipline. App. 484; 46.

In July 2016—nearly two years after Challenge Quest turned the Zipline over—Mt. Crescent retained Sky Line, a Canadian company, to install a new braking system on the Zipline. App. 484. This changed the braking system from the Original Braking System to an automated braking system called Zip Stop. App. 484.² Under the Zip Stop system, the brake block

_

of the following occur: [1] The participant arrives at the zip line landing area at a speed in excess of 6 mph (10 kph) [and] [2] The participant experienced unintended and/or harmful contact . . . in the zip line landing area." App. 83. From this, Plaintiff made the unsupported leap that "*[c]learly*, the braking system constructed by Challenge Quest required an emergency brake." (*Id.*) (emphasis added). Mr. Goodwin testified an "emergency brake" as defined under ACCT standards was not required under the Original Braking System employed by Challenge Quest. App. 280-281; 289 (Goodwin Dep. 66:25-67:8, 78:23-79:16, 173:21-174:8).

² Plaintiff notably neglects to mention that Challenge Quest in fact warned Mt. Crescent about the limitations of the Zip Stop braking system and why it did not recommend its use on the Zipline. App. 327-328 (Fleischer Dep. 184:24-185:22); 280 (Goodwin Dep. 65:22-66:11); 206-21. Mt. Crescent elected to hire Sky Line to install the Zip Stop system anyway. App. 484.

"automatically deploys itself back to reset for braking[]" after each rider. App. 328. Mt. Crescent never informed Challenge Quest that it planned to change the Original Braking System to the automated Zip Stop braking system. App. 330 (Fleischer Dep. 196:13-18). Sky Line conducted its own acceptance inspection of the Zipline after it installed the new Zip Stop braking system, and Mt. Crescent "relied on Skyline's expertise in conducting the inspection of the [Zipline] after the [Z]ipStop system was installed." App. 330-331 (Fleischer Dep. 196:19-197:6). Mt. Crescent expected Sky Line to "know what ACCT standards required with respect to an emergency brake on their system[.]" App. 331 (Fleischer Dep. 198:11-17).

Even assuming *arguendo* the Original Braking System employed by Challenge Quest was "substandard" and pushed Mt. Crescent to install the Zip Stop system, there is simply no logical correlation between this and "human error" that Plaintiff admits was the cause of the accident, and Plaintiff offers none. A simple analogy demonstrates the flaw in Plaintiff's causation theory. Suppose Manufacturer A sells a defective and dangerous product (e.g., a saw) to a consumer. Recognizing the defective and dangerous nature of Manufacturer A's product, the consumer then goes out and purchases Manufacturer B's similar product, which is also defective and dangerous. The consumer is then injured while using Manufacturer B's product. Adopting

Plaintiff's argument, Manufacturer A would be liable to the consumer even though the consumer never used, and was not injured by, Manufacturer A's product. Such a liability regime is unheard of in Iowa, or elsewhere, and Plaintiff offers no authority to support its adoption by this Court.

Plaintiff further argues "[t]he district court did not consider Challenge Quest's failure to provide Mt. Crescent with . . . training, policies, instructions and limitations, which are also elements of Plaintiff's negligence claim[.]" (Plaintiff's Final Br. at 30). Plaintiff is mistaken.

In granting Challenge Quest's Motion for Summary Judgment, the district court specifically found:

While Plaintiff alleges "Challenge Quest and/or the Mt. Crescent Defendants provided training to the Mt. Crescent employees operating the zipline attraction on October 9, 2016" the undisputed facts show "none of the employees trained by Challenge Quest on the use of the [o]riginal [b]raking [s]ystem were operating the [z]ipline on October 9, 2016." App. 27; 484. Nor could Challenge Quest have provided any training to Mt. Crescent employees on the operation of a braking system which had yet to be unilaterally modified by Mt. Crescent without Challenge Quest's knowledge or involvement.

App. 418.

Similar to Plaintiff's "kitchen sink" approach in the district court, Plaintiff argues on appeal that "Challenge Quest's failure to provide Mt. Crescent with an appropriate and safe system, along with its failure to provide Mt. Crescent with the required information, operational instructions,

warnings and basic employee training... caused Plaintiff's injuries." (Plaintiff's Final Br. at 31). Once again, Plaintiff has simply offered up this conclusion without any explanation or theory how these alleged deficiencies resulted in Plaintiff's injuries.

B. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT CHALLENGE QUEST DID NOT OWE A DUTY TO PLAINTIFF

1. Preservation of Error

Challenge Quest agrees with Plaintiff's statements on error preservation; however, to the extent Plaintiff criticizes any failure on the part of the district court to address any arguments, Plaintiff failed to preserve this issue for appeal by filing a motion to enlarge or amend the judgment pursuant to Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.904(2). *See Bill Grunder's Sons Constr.*, *Inc. v. Ganzer*, 686 N.W.2d 193, 197 (Iowa 2004) (stating a nonmovant must file a motion under Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.904 after the grant of summary judgment to preserve its unaddressed arguments for appeal).

2. Scope of Review

Challenge Quest agrees with Plaintiff's statements on scope of review and standard of review.

3. Argument

"The essential elements of a tort claim for negligence generally include:

(1) the existence of a duty on the part of the defendant to protect plaintiff from

injury; (2) a failure to perform that duty; (3) a reasonably close causal connection, i.e., legal cause or proximate cause; and (4) damages." *Bockelman v. State, Dep't of Transp.*, 366 N.W.2d 550, 552 (Iowa 1985); *accord Thompson v. Kaczinski*, 774 N.W.2d 829, 834 (Iowa 2009) ("An actionable claim of negligence requires the existence of a duty to conform to a standard of conduct to protect others, a failure to conform to that standard, proximate cause, and damages.") (quoting *Stotts v. Eveleth*, 688 N.W.2d 803, 807 (Iowa 2004).

Under the Restatement (Third), in order to prove a defendant was negligent, a plaintiff must show, among other things, "the existence of a duty to conform to a standard of conduct to protect others." *Thompson*, 774 N.W.2d at 834 (quoting *Stotts v. Eveleth*, 688 N.W.2d 803, 807 (Iowa 2004)); *accord Hill v. Damm*, 804 N.W.2d 95, 99 (Iowa Ct. App. 2011); Restatement (Third) of Torts § 6 cmt. b (Am. Law Inst. 2010). "An actor ordinarily has a duty to exercise reasonable care when the actor's conduct creates a risk of physical harm." Restatement (Third) of Torts § 7(a) (Am. Law Inst. 2010). However, "whether a duty exists is a policy decision based upon all relevant considerations that guide us to conclude a particular person is entitled to be protected from a particular type of harm." *Thompson*, 774 N.W.2d at 834 (quoting *J.A.H. ex rel. R.M.H. v. Wadle & Assocs., P.C.*, 589 N.W.2d 256,

258 (Iowa 1999)). Existence of a duty "is a question of law for the court to determine." Restatement (Third) of Torts § 6 cmt. b (Am. Law Inst. 2010); accord Estate of Gottschalk v. Pomeroy Dev., Inc., 893 N.W.2d 579, 586 (Iowa 2017) (quoting *Thompson*, 774 N.W.2d at 834).

The threshold question in any tort case is whether the defendant owed the plaintiff a duty of care. *Sankey v. Richenberger*, 456 N.W.2d 206, 207 (Iowa 1990). "Whether such a duty arises out of the parties' relationship is always a matter of law for the court." *Hoffnagle v. McDonald's Corp.*, 522 N.W.2d 808, 811 (Iowa 1994).

a. Plaintiff Misapprehends Challenge Quest's Duty

Plaintiff argues "Challenge Quest was responsible for designing and constructing a zipline which complied with industry standards, which it did not do." (Plaintiff's Final Br. at 37-38). Plaintiff further argues Challenge Quest failed in its responsibility to "(1) provid[e] Mt. Crescent with the necessary operational instructions, operational limitations/warnings and initial training to operate the zipline safely; (2) adequately address[] Mt. Crescent's safety concerns . . . ; (3) ensur[e] that Mt. Crescent had safety policies, procedures and guidelines in place and a definitive method of training future Mt. Crescent employees . . . and (4) recogniz[e] safety issues in its subsequent annual inspections of Mt. Crescent's zipline[.]" (Plaintiff's

Final Br. at 38). The undisputed evidence shows that Challenge Quest met any duty it owed to Plaintiff.

The Agreement provides Challenge Quest would "perform challenge course construction services" for a zipline challenge course on property owned, managed, or operated by Mt. Crescent. App. 486. Pursuant to the Agreement, Challenge Quest also agreed to provide "4 day site specific high technical training for full time staff[.]" App. 486; 492. The undisputed evidence shows that Challenge Quest provided this four-day training to Mt. Crescent's existing staff in August 2014, and Plaintiff does not dispute that fact. Challenge Quest completed its scope of work for construction of the Zipline and training of Mt. Crescent's full-time staff in August 2014, at which time Challenge Quest turned the Zipline over to the control of Mt. Crescent. App. 484.

More fundamentally, and as the district court recognized, *none of the employees* trained by Challenge Quest in August 2014 were operating the Zipline on the date of the Incident. App. 418. Nor could Challenge Quest have provided training to any Mt. Crescent employees on the operation of a *completely different braking system* that had yet to be installed by Mt. Crescent. App. 418. In other words, Plaintiff's argument would impose

a duty on Challenge Quest to provide training to a *future employee* on a braking system that *had yet to be installed*. That is preposterous on its face.

Plaintiff further asserts "Challenge Quest . . . was required to put in place a program that worked exactly the same way every time in order to avoid errors that could cause rider injury[.]" (Plaintiff's Final Br. at 45). Plaintiff is mistaken.

"Generally, a person does not have a duty to aid or protect another, or to control the conduct of a third person to prevent that person from causing physical harm to another." *Pierce v. Staley*, 587 N.W.2d 484, 487 (Iowa 1998).

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